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INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA
Darren Udd, et al., No. CV-18-01616-PHX-DWL
Plaintiffs, ORDER
V.

City of Phoenix, et al.,

Defendants.

INTRODUCTION
Pending before the Courttse partial motion to dismisgdd by the City of Phoenix
and Mary Roberts (togetheéiDefendants”). (Doc. 11t) Roberts has moved to dismis
Plaintiffs’ state-law claims against her fiasufficient compliance with Arizona’s notice
of claim statute, A.R.S. § 12-821.01(A),daboth Defendants hawveoved under Federa
Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) to dismisgttlaims for abuse of process and intentior
infliction of emotional distress. For theasons below, the Court will grant the parti
motion to dismis#n its entirety.
BACKGROUND
This case was removed to the federal coarMay 29, 2018. (Dodl.) Plaintiffs
Darren Udd (“Darren”) and Amydd (“Amy”) (together, “Plaintiffs”) filed their first

1~ Plaintiffs have requested oral argumeiihe Court will deny the request becau
the issues have been fully briefed and argument will not aid the Court’s decisioBee

I(:ed. R) Civ. P. 78(b) (court may decidetmns without oral heangs); LRCiv. 7.2(f)

same).
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amended complaint on June 1018. (Doc. 9.) The facts afleged by Plaintiffs are as
follows:

l. Facts Related to Underlying Claims

Darren is a peace officer certified lhye Arizona Peace Officer Standards al
Training Board (*AZPOST”) who retiredn December 2017after working for
approximately 24 years in the Phoenixlie® Department (the “Department”), moS

recently as a homicide detectiveld.( 24.) Amy is Darren’s spouse and a civilig

employee of the Departmentd (Y 54.) Roberts ian Assistant Chief for the Department.

(Id. 1 4.)

During the relevant time period, Darren worked significant hours from hom
otherwise outside the officend outside normal business hours, often working more t
his regularly scheduled eight-hour shifid. ({1 28-29, 35.) Darretike many other police
detectives, did not recordl she hours he worked.Id. T 31.) The Homicide Unit of the
Department has historically recognized the standard work hours of its detectives af
instituted a de facto gartment policy known aflex time” that isnot documented in the
employee manual.ld.  32.)

On December 20, 2016, Darren was directaeport to the office of his supervisor
where he was advised that Rokgrersonally directed that Inet be assigned to work or
any new cases.Id. § 39.) The Department claimecdatht had received an anonymod
report questioning his work hajrwhich caused the Departmémtopen an investigation
in October 2016 and conduct an audit ofrhegnetic entry card for headquarters and
radio transmissions and computer logsl. {1 40-41.)

Plaintiffs allege that this audit hadveeal significant limitations, which resulted i
underreporting of the hours Darren workeldl. { 43.) For example, it primarily calculate
the hours Darren worked based on Darren’s use of his magnetic entry card, assumi
the first use was his start of the work dend second use was higaWng work, which was
not always accurate.ld  44.) Plaintiffs allege thahe Department was aware of thes

limitations and the resulting underreportingd. {1 43-45.) At one pot, the audit showed

~—+

1N

e or

nan

nd

\

S

\

ng t

e




© 00 N O O b~ W DN B

N NN N NN NNDNRRR R R R R B B
0w ~N O OO0 W NP O © 00N O 0 W N B O

that Darren was deficient by 1,054.5 houwsrirbetween October 2015 and October 2016,

valued at $36,717.691d( 1 47.)

In or around October 2016, after bgiprovided the audit and investigatio
information, Roberts directed that Darrendoeninally investigated for theft of timeld
19 48, 63.) Darren’s supergis Sergeant Lumley, was nioterviewed until January 26,
2017. (d. § 63.) In this interview, Lumley pvided extensive exculpatory evidenctd. (

1 64.) A search warrant was obtained @arren’s personal cell phone records

connection with thisnvestigation, and the records wexetained on February 17, 2017.

(Id. 11 50, 68.) Darren was not interviewedoadbe the investigation was opened and his

interview did not occuuntil April 19, 2017. Id. 11 59, 69.)

Reports that originated in Roberts’s offmeculated throughout the department th
Darren was under investigation for “theft.”ld(  52.) Amy was informed by he
supervisor of the investigation, whicaused her stress and anxiety. {{ 54-55.)

By April 2017, the amount of unaccounted time had been reduced to 221 hout
valued at $7,695.221d; 1 71.) Darren was never arrestediy or after the investigation.
(Id. 1 60.) But an incident report indicatidt he was an arrested suspeld. 61.) The
incident report also recommended that DarrenHagged with a class 3 felony for theft ¢
hours. [d. 1 76.)

The investigation was rafed to the Maricopa Coty Attorney’s Office
(“MCAQ?”) for possible indictment and prosecutionld.( 80.) The MCAQdeclined to
prosecute. 1.  82.) The MCAO has declined to prosecute many sworn officers
civilian employees who have been refdrfer prosecution by the Departmentd. | 83.)
On information and belief, the MCAO hamdvised the investigatory units of th
Department, including the Professional StandBudeau and the Office of the Phoeni
Chief of Police, to cease referring intigations for non-criminal activity. Id. § 97.)

Plaintiffs allege that several employedshe Department over the age of 40 ha
been subjected to a series of internalestigations and otheunwarranted adverse

employment actions, causing some of them to take early retirement and leay
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Department. Ifl. 11 90-91.) Plaintiffs further allegfeat male employed®save been subject
to investigations and adverse employmernioas that female employees have nad. (
19 94, 96.)

During the investigation, Roberts madarcoents about Darren that attacked H
reputation and falsely claimedathhe would be prosecutedt.(] 98.)

On May 16, 2017, Darren learned thatbReds had opened a separate crimir
investigation into Amy for using Darren’s ggekey card at Department headquarte
(Id. 1 100.) Darren had allowed Amy to use hiskpay spot so she wodinot have to walk

alone through downtowRhoenix at night. Id.) Darren and Amy we both referred to

the Phoenix City Prosecutor’s Qfé for one count of theft.Id. § 110.) The case was$

referred to the Glendale City Prosecutor tlue perceived conflict of interest, and th
Glendale City Prosecutor declinedgmsecute either Darren or Amyld (19 111, 113.)
An incident report indicates that both Denrand Amy were categorized as arrest
suspects even thougleither was ever arrested imo@ction with this matter.ld. 1 112,
114.)

Due to stress and health concerns, Darrek EMLA leave around late May 2017|

(Id. 1 101.) He remained on this leave untd previously scheduled vacation leave beg
on July 11, 2017.14.)
When Darren returned to woda August 7, 2017, he was ordered to immediat

surrender his badge and gun, assignedwtok from home, and placed on pai

administrative leave. Id. 1 102.) On September 6, 20DJarren requested that he be

returned to his former duties; in responsewas told that he was being transferred
callback duty. Id. 1 104-105.)Callback was a desk job thawolved returning calls to

members of the public, which Darren considet@dbe a highly demeaning punishmerit.

(Id. 71 108-109.)

Darren provided the City of Phoenix, in @apacity as his employer, with a Notic
of Constructive Discharge.ld{ 1 126.) The City of Phoéx has not provided a written
response to the Noticeld({ 127.)
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Darren took early retirement in December 201d. { 128.) The City of Phoenix

and the Department did not provide him watdesignation that he had taken an honoraple

retirement. Id. § 130.)

After Darren took his early retirement, thagy®f Phoenix and the Department fileg
paperwork with AZPOST alleging misconductan effort to have Darren’s peace office
certification removed.Iq. 1 131.)On May 2, 2018, Darrenceived a letter from AZPOST|
stating that a review of the criminal and adisirative investigations had found nothing {
support the violation of any AZPOST rule, tlineé case had been administratively clos
without any Board action, and that he had no further issue pending with AZPQO&T.
1132)

Plaintiffs allege that, as a result of fBedants’ conduct, Deen suffered physical
and mental harm including emotional disBge pain and suffering, mental anguis
humiliation, stress, and stress-induced medical issudsy (34.) They ab allege that
he suffered public ridicule, contempt, disreptiE;m to reputation, attacks on his integrit
lost wages and benefits, econorarmd other financial lossel®st earnings capacity, anc
other damages.Id. { 135.)

Plaintiffs further allege that, as astdt of Defendants’ conduct, Amy suffere
severe and debilitating emotional distress, hutiolia degradation, harm to her good nan
and reputation, harm to her marital communggeat anxiety, fear afinjust prosecution,
and significant harm to her employabilityher chosen fieldf psychology. Id. § 138.)

Il. Notice of Claim Service

On August 14, 2017, Dameserved notices of claim on the City of Phoenix a
Roberts. Id. § 140; Doc. 9-1 [Exs. 1-2].) A proseserver served the notice of claim ¢
the City of Phoenix through hand delivery on Norris Cunningham, who indicated he
Special Deputy City Clerk, at the Phaedlity Clerk’s office. (Doc. 9  143.7 process
server served the notice of claim on Robdhrough hand delivery to Jeanette Ploiu
Roberts’s administrative assistaat,Phoenix Police Headquartersd. ( 144.)

On April 2, 2016, a proceserver attempted, on behaffboth Darren and Amy, to
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serve a new set of notices of claimtbe City of Phoenix and Robertsld.(11 145, 150;
Doc. 9-1 [Exs. 3-6].) The service on thayCof Phoenix occurred without incident. A
process server served the notices through kialivery to Connie &esloop, who indicated
she was Special Deputy Cityeatk, at the Phoenix City €itk’s office. (Doc. 9 {1 148,
153.)

The attempt to serve Robewias more complicated. Whéme process server went

to the reception area of Phoeiolice Headquarters and asked for Roberts, “he was tpld”

by an unspecified person that Roberts “wouldaoobe down to the reception area to acce

service” and that he neededstrve the notices of claim aetPhoenix City Clerk’s office.

(Id. 1111 149, 154.) The process server then ts@mded the notices of claim on Eric Ehrig

at the Phoenix City Clerk’s office.ld)) Plaintiffs allege thatEhrig indicated he was &
Special Deputy City Clérand he specifically stated thae was authorized to accef
service on behalf of Assistant Chief Robertdd.)(
.  Claims

In the First Amended Compid, Darren asserts claimsagst the City of Phoenix
and Roberts, in her individ and official capacity, fo(1) defamation, (2) abuse of
process, (3) intentional infliction of emotiordiktress, (4) violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983
(5) violation of Title VII, (6) violation of ADEA, (7) negligence, and (8) wrongfu
termination/constructive discharge.

In the First Amended Compid, Amy asserts claims agst the City of Phoenix
and Roberts, individually rel in her official capacity, fo(1) abuse of process, (2
intentional infliction of emotional distresg3) violation of 42U.S.C. § 1983, (4)
negligence, and (5) loss of consortium.

LEGAL STANDARD

“[T]o survive a motion to dismiss, a panyust allege ‘sufficient factual matter,,
accepted as true, to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its fdoerg Fitness
Holdings Int’l, Inc, 714 F.3d 1141, 1144 (9th Cir. 2013) (quotikghcroft v. Igbal 556
U.S. 662, 678 (2009)). “A claim has faciahpsibility when the @lintiff pleads factual
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content that allows the coux draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable

for the misconduct alleged.ld. (quotinglgbal, 556 U.S. at 678).“[A]ll well-pleaded
allegations of material fact ithe complaint are aepted as true and are construed in the
light most favorable to the non-moving partyd. at 1144-45 (citation omitted). Howevelr,

the court need not accept legal con@uasicouched as factual allegatioihgbal, 556 U.S.

at 679-80. Moreover, “[tlhreadbarecitals of the elements of a cause of action, suppoyted

by mere conclusory statements, do not sufficel”at 679. The court also may dismigs
due to “a lack of a cognizable legal theoryMollett v. Netflix, Inc. 795 F.3d 1062, 1065
(9th Cir. 2015) (citation omitted).

ANALYSIS
l. Adequacy of Plaintiffs’ Apl 2, 2018 Efforts to Serve Their Notices of Claim

Arizona’s notice of claim statute bars atgdrom bringing a claim against a publi

A4

employee if the party fails to file a notice d&im with that pulic employee within 180
days of the action accruing. A.R.S. 8§ 12-821A). “If a notice of claim is not properly
filed within the statutory time limit, plaintiff's claim is barred by statute Falcon ex rel.
Sandoval v. Maricopa Ctyl144 P.3d 1254, 1256 (Ariz0@6) (en banc). “Actual notice
and substantial compliance do eatuse failure to complyitin the statutory requirements
of AR.S. 8§ 12-821.01(A).Id. at 1256.

Here, the City of Phoenix doesn’t dispuRaintiffs’ service efforts. Roberts
however, contends that Plaintiffs’ service effoon April 2, 2018 were inadequate. Thus,
Roberts seeks to dismiss “Plaintiffs’ state tdaims contained in the April 2, 2018 Notices

of Claim as to ... Roberts.” (Doc. 11 at 8.)

174

As an initial matter, the parties dispusdich Federal Rule of Civil Procedure
applies when a party seeks dismissal for mppr service of a notice of claim. In her
motion, Roberts sought relief under Rule )&b and attached Ehrig’s declaration in
support. (Doc. 11 at 4-8.)n their response, Plaintiffargued that, under Rule 12(d),
Roberts’s reliance on matteositside the pleading®.g.,the Ehrig declaration) requirec

her motion to be converted into a motion fomsoiary judgment. (Doc. 16 at 7-11.) In her
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reply, Roberts changed course and arguatl the was actuallgeeking dismissal for
“insufficient service of process” under Rule(bf5)—a rule that permits a movant to rel
on extrinsic evidence withogbnversion into a motion faummary judgment. (Doc. 21
at 2-4.) Finally, in their surreply, Plaiffs argued that (1) Rob&s shouldn’t be allowed
to advance a new theory forethirst time in her reply,rad (2) Rule 12(b)(5) doesn't, in
any event, apply in this circumstance bessait only addresses the failure to serve t
complaint and summons following initiation aflawsuit. (Doc. 22 at 2-7.)

The Court declines to decide whiBlule governs this type of motibbecause, even
if the Court were to disregatlle Ehrig declaration and ass#ss sufficiency of Plaintiffs’
service efforts based solely on the First Ameh@emplaint and the exhits attached to it
(as required under Rule 12(b))6Roberts would prevail.

Arizona’s notice of claim statetprovides, in relevant part:

Persons who have claims against alijpudntity, public school or a public
employee shall file claims with the rsen or persons authorized to accept
service for the public entity, public schawl public employee as set forth in
the Arizona rules of civil procedureithin one hundre elﬁ_hty days after the
cause of action accrues. . . . Any clammat is not filedwithin one hundred
eighty days after the cause of actioeraes is barred and no action may be
maintained thereon.

A.R.S. § 12-821.01(A). “Thianguage of the notice of chaistatute makes clear that on
who has a claim against a pubdintity and its employee ‘mugtve notice of the claim to
both the employee individually and to his employer.3trickler v. Arpaigo 2012 WL

3596514, *2 (DAriz. 2012);see also DeBinder v. Albertson’s, In2008 WL 828789, *3
(D. Ariz. 2008) (“[l]t is clear that the V& requires that service be made on pub

employees, in addition to thetéies that [employ] them, a& prerequisite to any lawsui

2 _As the parties demonstrated throughrtiigiefing, there is disagreement on th
guestion. Compare McGrath v. Scote50 F. Su 8 2d 1218235-36 %) Ariz. 2003)
a%pl¥|ng Rule 12(b)(6)with Taraska v. LudWI,gB 13 WL 655124%4 (D. Ariz. 2013
“[Detendant’s] motion to dismiss is more likee procedural defense under Rule 12( g
or insufficient process #m a Rule 12 b)(62 motion to disssifor failure to state a claim.”
and Peck v. Hinchey014 WL 1@87731, *13 (D. Ariz. 2014)ff'd in part, rev'd in part
and remanded655 F. App’x 5349th Cir. 2016)as amended on denial of ref(duly 12,
2016) (noting that noncompliance with the notice of claim statute constitutes “[a] fa
to exhaust non-judicial remedies . . . , whis subject to an unenumerated Rule 12
motion to dismiss”).
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against such employees.”).
For service of process on individuals,izzna Rule of Civil Procedure 4.1(d

provides that, absent exceptidhat are inapplicable here:

[A]n individual may be served by: (tlelivering a copy of the summons and
the ﬁleadlng being served to that ndual personally; (2) leaving a copy of
each at that individual’'s dwelling aisual place of abode with someone of
suitable age and discretion avhesides there; or (3) delivering a copy of each
to an agent authorized byppointment or by law to ceive service of process.

Here, it is undisputed that service wasn't effieted through subdivisioit$) or (2) of Rule
4.1(d)—the April 2, 2018 notices claim weren't personally ¢leered to Roberts or left
at Roberts’s home—so the dispute turns oetivar Plaintiffs satisfied subdivision (3).
The April 2, 2018 notices aflaim were served on Erihrig, an employee of the
Phoenix City Clerk’s office. (Doc. 9 { 149, 1pMNotably, Plaintiffs do not allege tha
Ehrig was actually “authorized ppointment or by law” toeceive service on behalf o

Roberts. Moreover, under City of Phoed@ministrative Regulation 4.43(3), of whick

the Court takes judicial noticdt is clear that althugh employees of the City Clerk’s officé

are authorized to accept service for many diffeeatities, they are nauthorized to accept
service on behalf of someomeRoberts’s position.

Notwithstanding Ehrig’s lack of actual thority to accept service on Roberts]
behalf, Plaintiffs argue their service atf® should be deemed sufficient because
someone at Roberts’s office, after refusin@toept service on Roberts’s behalf, direct

the process server to the Phoenix City K&Office, and (2) oce the process serve

arrived at the Clerk’s Office, Ehrig hekimself out as Roberts’'s authorized agent.

3 In the body of her motion, Roberts _re?ucepl the text of Administrative Regulatio
4.43. (Doc. 11 at 6-7.) In their respons@jiilffs didn’t dispute the accuracy of Roberts
reproduction—instead, they argued thedministrative Regulation 4.43 shouldn’t b
udicially noticed or considered for purposesadf2(b)(6) motion. (Doc. 16 at 8-9 & n.2,

oth of these arguments are misplaced. ewhuling on a 12&%( )_motion, courts ma
consider “matters properly sject to judicial notice.”Hicks v. PGA Tour, Inc897 F.3d
1109, 1117 (9th Cir2018) (citation omitted). Also, courtsray take judicial notice of . .
. regulations not included ithe plaintiffs complaint.” Navajo Nation v. Dep’t of the
Interior, 876 F.3d 1144, 11533 (9th Cir. 2017).

4 The parties hotly contest whether Ehrid,dn fact, hold himself out as Roberts’
authorized agent. Plaintiffsismitted, as exhibits to their colamt, a pair of declarations

from their process server statingttEric Ehrig . . . stated thae is authorized to accept

service for Mary Roberts as Assistant ChiePofice.” (Doc. 9-1 at 11, 15.) Roberts the
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Plaintiffs summarize their position as followsService of a notice of claim through a
individual not authorized by stae can be effective if the inddual explicitly states they
are authorized to accept semiand the court feels that rele@ on such a representation
reasonable under the circumstes.” (Doc. 16 at 6.)

This argument lacks merit. As an initial matter, Plaintiffs’ position is difficult
reconcile with the plain language of ArizoRale of Civil Procedure 4.1(d)(3), which
states that service on an ageneffective only if the agems “authorized by appointment
or by law” to receive such service. Herasitlear that Ehrig wadnactually authorized
by appointment or law to acceg#rvice for Roberts, and thextef Rule 4.1(d)(3) doesn’t
seem to contemplate any eqbiw@exceptions to this requirement. For this reason, sq
courts have concluded that “apparent authbarnguments of the sort Plaintiffs seek t
advance here are simply not cognizalnl the notice-of-claim contextPeck 2014 WL
10987731 at *14 (citation omitted)in the context of service of process of a Notice
Claim on an individual, apparent authority isufficient to effectuatservice; rather, the
agent must actually be ‘authorized by ajppment or by law to receive service @
process.”).

Moreover, even if “apparent authority” atas are potentially valich the notice-of-

claim context, as otharourts have concludédpPlaintiffs’ allegations are insufficient tg

submitted, as an exhibit to her motion, andaf¥it from Ehrig statinghat “[a]lthough | do
not have a specific memory tifis encountewith [the process seev], | would not, under
any circumstances, agree to accept serviceabralf of Assistant” Chief Mary Roberts
because she is not an individual for whom [affice] is authorizedo accept service.”
(Doc. 11-1 at 3.) FinallyPlaintiffs submitted, as an exiftibo their respose to the motion
to dismiss, another declaration from the prosesger _relteratln? that “Ehrig stated he w:
authorized to accept service orhb# of Assistant Chief Robes'tand stating that “[a]s an
experienced process server | understand the importance of propee.sénwould never
have served two documents on Mr. Ehrig iffael stated he was not authorized to acc
service on behalf of Assistant Chief Robert®bc. 16-1 at 2.) The Court need not resol
the parties’ disagreements abwathich (if any) of these docusnts may be considered fo
purposes of the mation to dismiss because ev@e i€ourt were to acpeall of Plaintiffs’
declarations, and disregard Defendants’ afficiaismissal would still be required.

5 See, e;g._Grand Canyon Resoi€orp. v. Drive-Yourself Tours, 1nc2006 WL
1722314 (D. Ariz. 2006) (cﬂmcgoven v. Saberdyne Sys., 825 P.2d 907, 911 (Ariz.
Ct. App. 1980)) (“Arizona’sCourt of Appeals [has| intpreted the phrase ‘agen
authorized by law to receive service of pmgieas broad enough mcompass service of
an ‘ostensible’ agent, or agent that th@rincipal knowingly or ngligently héd out as
possessing the authority to reaeservice or process.”).
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advance such a claim here. It would be one thifgpliertshad told Plaintiffs, or their
process server, that Ehrig svauthorized to accept semwi®on her behalf. In that

circumstance, Roberts might be estoppednfrchallenging Plaintiffs’ reliance on he

representation. But in the absence of alfggation that Roberts was personally involve

in, or contributed to, the misundensting, Plaintiffs cannot prevail.
Strickler v. Arpaio 2012 WL 3596514 (D. Ariz. 2012), involved very similar fact
There, a plaintiff seeking to sue Edwsifll, a Maricopa County Sheriff's Office

("MCSOQ”) deputy, hired a process servto serve the notice of claimd. at *1. Even

though “the receptionist atedhMCSQO’s administrative officagreed to accept service on

behalf of Deputy Edwards-Elthe court concluded this service effort was insufficie
because the receptionist wasadtually authorized to accepervice for Edwards-El and
the process server never met #do face” with Edwards-Elld. at *2.

Similarly, in Drake v. City of Eloy2014 WL 3421038 (D. Az. 2014), a plaintiff
seeking to sue Crane, a municipal employeedha process server to serve the notice
claim. Id. at *1. The process server delivered ttotice to Crane’supervisor, the town’s
chief of police, who “told the process serveatthe was authorized to accept service 1
Crane” and even filled out a “signature sheet . . . showing thasiie¢d on behalf of
Crane.” Id. Nevertheless, the court concluded gesvice effort wassufficient because
“Plaintiffs have not alleged th&rane representethat [his supervisor] had authority tq
accept service on his behalfld. at *2.

And again, inChen v. Maricopa County2013 WL 1045484D. Ariz. 2013), a
plaintiff seeking to sue Fischione, the Mapa County medical exaner, left a notice of
claim with “the receptionist” at Fischione’s officdd. at *3. Even though “it was an
accepted practice at the Officerexeive legal process thigluthe receptionist,” the court
concluded this service effort was insaifint because it was “not alleged tRachione
representedhat the receptionist was his agentvauld accept service on his behalfd.
(emphasis added).

As these cases demonstrate, Plaintiffs’ kéfdo serve the April 2, 2018 notices ¢
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claim on Roberts were inadequét& hus, the Court must dismiss all of Amy’s state-lgw
claims against Roberts (becauke only notice of claim &t Amy attempted to serve on
Roberts was the April 2, 2018 versionThis dismissal is with prejudiceFerreira v.

Arpaio, 2016 WL 3970224, *10 (D. Az. 2016) (“Failure to cmply with the notice of
claim statute results in dismissal . . . wglejudice.”). The Court need not, however,
dismiss Amy’'s § 1983 claim against Roberts because it's not a state-law &aske,

2014 WL 342103&t *2 (because “Arizona’s notice ofaim requirements do not apply t¢

O

actions brought pursuant to 8§ 1983,” failingtimply with the notice-of-claim statute only,
requires dismissal of state-law claims).

As for Darren, the complaint alleges the served an initial notice of claim on
Roberts on August 14, 2018eeDoc. 9 § 144; Doc. 9-1 &), and Roberts hasn't
challenged the sufficienayf that service effort in the nion to dismiss. Thus, the Court
will dismiss the subset of state-law claiarren didn’t identify inhis August 14, 2017
notice to Roberts and attempted to assertHerfirst time in his April 2, 2018 notice

Because the actual notices are not parthef record, the Court cannot identify wit

—

precision, at this time, which of Darren&ate-law claims agast Roberts must be
dismissed on this basis.

Il. Count 2 (Abuse of Process)

In Count 2 of the First Amended ComplaiAmy and Darren each allege a claim

for abuse of process. (Doc. 9 at 25-27.) In their 12(b)(6) motion, Defendants|see

dismissal of this claim on twadependent grounds: (1) the toftabuse of process requires
the misuse of a judicial process, yet tirallenged conduct—initiatg investigations and
making referrals to prosecutorial and ceréifion agencies—didninvolve any judicial

processes, and (2) Plaintiffs rgerequired to allege, and fadl¢o allege, that Defendants

“primary motivation” in pursuing these investigations and refemas improper. (Doc.

6 Plaintiffs rely heavily omaraska v. Ludwig2013 WL 655124 (D. Ariz. 2013), buf
that case is easily distinguishable. Tlraska the court deferred resolution of the service
issue until summary judgmentdsise there was a disputencerning whether the agent
who received the notice of claim wagtually authorized to accept service on the
defendant’s behalfld. at *5 n.4. No such dispute exists here.
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11 at 8-10.) In their response, Plaintiftntend that (1) abuse-of-process claims may
premised on conduct occurring outside of litigation; (2) in Darren’s case, there is an a
abuse of the judicial process—Plaintiffsopurement of a search warrant for his pho
despite the absence of probable cause; (3) at the pleading stage, a plaintiff asse
abuse-of-process claim only needs to alltige defendants were motivated by “ar
improper purpose and need not allege theraper purpose was tHprimary” motivating
factor; and (4) alternativelythey've satisfied the primary-ppose test because “[i]t IS
Impossible for any reasonable person to tafe that the motivation for Defendants[’
conduct was anything other than completaty totally improper.” (Doc. 16 at 11-14.)
As for the first issue, the Court agreesitvbDefendants that, under Arizona law, g
abuse-of-process claim must be premised on the misuse of a “judicially sancti
process. See, e.g.Crackel v. Allstate Ins. Cp92 P.3d 882, 887 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2004
(“[A] plaintiff must prove that one or morgpecific judicially sactioned processes hav
been abused to establish an abuse-of-procass.¢. In fact, some Arizona courts hav
gone further and stated that abuse-ofepes claims must be premised on condl

occurring during already-initiated legal proceedin@ee, e.g.Fappani v. Bratton407

P.3d 78, 81 (Ariz. Ct. Apf2017) (original emphasis omitted) (emphasis added) (“[A] vali

claim for abuse of process requires well-plehtiets alleging that the defendant used
judicial processluring civil litigation orcriminal prosecutioti); Ludwig v. Arizona2018
WL 1015371, *5 (D. Ariz. 2018) (emphasis addéf)]buse of process addresses misus
of processafter proceedings have been initiatgd Nevertheless, regardless of wheth
legal proceedings must have been initiated faatarse of process claim to arise, it is cle
that the tort requires the misuse of somecpss “done under thethority of the court,”
Rondelli v. Pima Cty586 P.2d 1295, 1301 (Ariz. Gipp. 1978) (citation omitted)+e.,
a process that is “judicially sanctione@;tacke| 92 P.3d at 887.

! Parra v. Lippman Griieth & Assocs., P.C2014 WL 1266388, *3 (Ariz. Ct. Apl_p.
_2014?, an unpublished case citsdPlaintiffs, does not suggest a different standard. Thy
in relation to a default judgent obtained in a lawsuit ave car accident, plaintiff's
attorney notified the clerk of court of defend’s alleged failure tsatisfy a judgment
within 60 days. The notification was maﬁmnt to a statute thatithorized the clerk
of court, upon request, to provide the Motahicles Division (“MVD”) with a certified
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With these principles in mind, the G dismisses Amy’s claim for abuse g

process. Amy has not alleged that the Git{?hoenix engaged sy actions against her

that could constitute use ofqmess, even under a broadefirdgon that does not require
any legal proceedings tave been initiatedAmy alleges only thathe was investigated
for using Darren’s parking pass, referred te Bhoenix City Prosecutor’s Office for on
count of theft (which was traferred to the Glendale City Prosecutor), and categorize
a suspect in an incident report. (Doc. 9494-114.) She acknowledges that she was ng
arrested or prosecuted in connectiathviher use of the parking pasdd. (1 112-113.)
None of these acts were “done under the authority of the cdrontellj 586 P.2d at 1301
(citation omitted)cf. Fappanj 407 P.3d at 83 (“A prosecutbas discretion to prosecutg

such cases as he or she deappropriate . . . . Demandi that the couy attorney

prosecute a criminal violation of law, withtomore, does not implicate judicial process.”).

Darren, in addition to allegg that he was subjectedto improper nvestigations

and two improper referrals for prosecutioalegations that, as noted above, are

insufficient to state a claim for abuse of prese-also alleges that)(fhe City of Phoenix
and the Department filed paperwork with AZEDalleging miscondudh an attempt to
have his peace officer certification remead (Doc. 9 1 131-132and (2) Defendants
improperly obtained a search warrant for his cell phone recwd$ $0). Although the
first allegation concerning the AROST referral fails for the sg reason as the allegation
concerning the investigations and crimindéreals (nothing was “done under the authori
of the court,” Rondelli 586 P.2d at 1301 (citation dated)), the second allegation
concerning the search warrant canhbhe so easily dismissedbee, e.g., Davis v. Uniteq
States, 2010 WL 334502, *17 (C.D. Cal. 201@mphasis omitted) (“Many courts . . . hay
recognized that an abusembcess claim may lie where arrest or search warrant wa
improperly obtained.”).

Nevertheless, Darren’'s search warramatesl claim fails because he hasn

coBy of the judgment, which would require VD to immediately suspend the judgme

debtor’s driver’s license and registration wsleertain conditions were met. There is

guestlon defendant’s conduct there wasiie under the authority of the courtRondellj
86 P.2d at 1301 (citation omitted).
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plausibly alleged an improper qnose. “[T]here is no acn for abuse of process whe
the defendant uses the process for its authdrar intended purpose, ‘even though wi
bad intentions,’ or if ‘there ian incidental motive of spite."Morn v. City of Phoenix730
P.2d 873, 875 (Ariz. Ct. App. 198&yuoting Nienstedt 651 P.2d at 881). “A party car
demonstrate [an ulterior purpose] by ‘showingtttihe process has been used primarily
accomplish a purpose for which theocess was not designed.Cracke| 92 P.3d at 887
(quotingNienstedt 651 P.2d at 881). Panother way, the plaintiff must “show that, i
using the court process, the defendant too&ction that could not logically be explaine
without reference to the defdant’s improper motives.Cracke| 92 P.3d at 889.

Some courts have determined that, at teaglihg stage, the plaintiff need not sho

that the improper purpose wdhe primary motivation, ankdhstead need only allege 3

“willful act committed in the use of a judicigkocess for an improper ulterior purpose|

See, e.g., Safety Dynamics Inc. v. Gen. Star Indem2Ci WL 11281291*4 (D. Ariz.
2014) (citingGrabinski v. Nat'l Union Hie Ins. Co. of Pittsburgl265 F. App’x 633, 635
(9th Cir. 2008));Hein v. City of Chandler2016 WL 1153832, *10-11 (D. Ariz. 2016)
(same). The Court need ndéetermine how much is required at the pleading stg
however, because Darren has failed supibly allege my improperpurpose.

To be sure, Darren attempted to allegeimproper purpose with respect to th

search warrant. For example, Darren alleged‘thatjudicial process, the criminal justics

system, multiple criminal investigations, olpiag search warrants, and multiple referrals

to a prosecutor’s office . . . was [sic] useda purpose for whictihey were not intended
by seeking criminal referral artle creation of false records of arrest for Darren.” (D¢
9 1 168). But this is a colusory statement failing to atje any ulterior purpose; it ig
essentially reciting an elementtbie claim, which is inadequatdgbal, 556 U.S. at 679.
Darren also alleges that Defendants “improperly and intentionally attempted to us
judicial, criminal investigation, search wantaand prosecutorial referral process for tl
improper and ulterior purpose wiounting a criminal investigian, seeking an indictment

creating a false record of arrest, and attemggib cause the improper prosecution of Darr|
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Udd for theft of time.” (Doc9 { 169.) But using a process for its intended purpose, ¢
with bad intentions, does not constitute abuse of process. Obtaining a search wat
connection with an investigath and using that search warrémtobtain records relevan
to that investigation are uses of procesdHerpurposes for which they were intended.

It is also notable that, although Darnapeatedly makes tlenclusory allegation
that the search warrant lacked “probablesed (Doc. 9 11 50, 167, 202), he does n
identify any facts to support theecusation. This creates anothuyal-related infirmity.
In this respect, this case resemiiagaky v. City of Phoeni2009 WL 455398 (D. Ariz.
2009). There, the court granted a Rul€éb)@) motion to dismiss an abuse-of-proce
claim predicated on the City of Phoenix’s retig execution of a search warrant that w
alleged to lack probable cause, holding that the plaintiff had “failalietgge anything more
than mere speculation to suppbig assertion that [defendants] used court processes
an improper intent” and that the search wairfavas used for the purpose it was intendg
to further an investigatioaf suspected wrongdoingt. at *6-7.

Accordingly, the Court dismisses Dan’s claim for abuse of process.

[ll.  Count 3 (Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress)

In Count 3 of the First Amended ComplaiAmy and Darren each allege a claif
for intentional infliction of emotional distress (“IlED”). (Doc. 9 at 27-28.) In their 12(b)
motion, Defendants seek dismissal of tbigim because (1) the tort of IIED require
“extreme and outrageous” conduafd the conduct allegedtime complaint does not risq
to this level, and (2) a defendant must henended to cause emotial distress, or acted
recklessly in doing so, and tleemplaint fails to allege suffient facts to support that
element. (Doc. 11 at 10-14.) timeir response, Plaintiffs argtleat the chilenged conduct

was sufficiently outrageous amdat, “[w]here there is aeasonable difference of opinior

regarding what is outrageous,s for the jury to decidand not appropriate for a Rule

12(b)(6) motion.” (Doc. 16 at 14-16.)
Under Arizona law, there are three elemeata claim for IIED: (1) “the conduct

by the defendant must be ‘extreme’ and ‘ogéeus™; (2) “the defendant must eithe
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intend to cause emotional distress or reckjesistregard the near certainty that su¢

distress will result from his conduct”; and (3g\®re emotional distressust indeed occur
as a result of defendant’s conducCitizen Publ'g Co. v. Miller115 P.3d 107, 110 (Ariz.
2005) (en banc) (quotingord v. Revlon, In¢.734 P.2d 580, 585 (Ariz. 1987)).

In the 12(b)(6) contexthe “trial court is to act e gatekeeper to determine wheth
the alleged actions are ‘so outrageous in atter and so extrema degree, as to go
beyond all possible bounds decency, and to be regarded atrocious and utterly
intolerable in a civilized community.”"Morgan v. Freightliner of Arizona, LL2017 WL
2423491, *8 (D. Aiz. 2017) (quotingMintz v. Bell Atl. Sys. Leasing Int’l, In@05 P.2d
559, 563 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1995)). “[T]hedtirt need not determenwhether Defendants’
conduct was outrageous enough to creatality, only whether reasonable persons col
differ as to whetheathe conduct is ‘extreme and outrageousfbrgan, 2017 WL 2423491
at *8; see also Reel Precision, Inc.FedEx Ground Package Sys., |i2016 WL 4194533,

*3 (D. Ariz. 2016) (“The trid court must make a prelimany determination whether the

conduct may be considered sufficiently ‘extreme’ and ‘outrageous’ to permit recover

“[Clonduct necessary to sustain an intenal infliction claim falls at the very
extreme edge of the spectrum of possible condiR&él Precision2016 WL 4194533 at
*2 (quoting Watts v. Goldege Nursing Home619 P.2d 1032, B% (Ariz. 1980)). “It
‘must completely violate human dignity. The doict must strike to the very core of one
being, threatening to shatter the frame uptbich one’s emotional fabric is hung.Reel
Precision 2016 WL 419453at *2 (quotingPankratz v. Willis744 P.2d 1182, 1189 (Ariz
Ct. App. 1987)).

Arizona courts have noted that “[i]t isxtremely rare to fid conduct in the
employment context that will rise to thevé of outrageousness necessary to provid
basis for recovery for the tort of intieanal infliction of emotional distress.Mintz, 905
P.2d at 563 (quotinGox v. Keystone Carbon C&61 F.2d 390, 398d Cir. 1988)). In
Mintz, the defendant employer failed tooprote plaintiff, whitv she claimed was

motivated by sex discrimination oetaliation, forced her to tern to work after she was
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hospitalized for emotional and psychologicallems related to not being promoted, and

then hand delivered a letterlier while she was again hdasfized, reassigning her job tg

another employeeld. The Arizona Court of Appeals found that the failure to promaqte,

even if it was discriminatorgr retaliatory, was not sufficidély extreme and outrageous tp
state a claim for intentional iinftion of emotional distressld. The court further found
that forcing her to return twork and deliverig the dismissal letter tioer while she was in
the hospital, although a closer call, were also insufficient, particldadguse, in carrying
out these actions, defendamhs motivated by a “legitimatieusiness purpose” in seeing

that plaintiff's work be completedd.

The Court finds that Plaintiffs have raiteged sufficiently outrageous and extreme

behavior to satisfy the first element of ainot for IIED. Plaintiffs allege that, after

receiving a complaint about Darren’s wohours, the Department, led by Robert

[2)

conducted an audit and investigpn into him, which found &t he had unaeeported his
hours. (Doc. 9 11 40-41, 47.) Plaintiffs het allege that the Department subsequerjt

conducted a criminal investatjon, recommended proseauti of Darren, and publicly

stated Darren was guiltyd¢ 111 76, 177-178) andsa “creat[ed] a false permanent record

y

of arrest” in his name in relation to the alleged theft of time and created similar false rgcort

in his name (and in Amy’s name) regaglthe misuse of the parking paskl. {1 61, 114,
180.) However, Plaintiffs acknowledges tlizdrren “did not recorall the hours [he]
worked” (d. § 31) and that he “allowed hisfe&ito use his garage key carad.({ 100),

thus, in effect, conceding the Departmentl ls@me predication to investigate him and

Amy. Similarly, the Depanhent would have had someas®n to inform AZPOST of
misconduct.

All of the alleged conduct occurred withime employment context, where Arizona
courts have been hesitant to allow IIERigis to proceed. Furthermore, asvimtz, the
Department arguably had a “legitimate busimmspose” for its actions in ensuring that its
employees abide by internallpies and the law and are pahed for any violations.

Reasonable persons could not findatthinvestigating and recommending
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prosecution of individuals, where there idesist a modicum of evidence suggesting th
have violated internal poliayr law, constitutes conduct tHabmpletely vblate[s] human
dignity” and “strike[s] to the v core of one’s being, threating to shatter the frame upo
which one’s emotional fabric is hung.Reel Precision2016 WL 419453t *2 (quoting
Pankratz v. Willis744 P.2d 1182, 1189 (k. Ct. App. 1987)).See also Nelson v. Phoeni
Resort Corp. 888 P.2d 1375, 1386 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1994) (escorting employee ou

premises in middle of night by armed setyuteam, allowing employee to use bathroom

on way out only if accompanied into stall Bymed escorts, and firing employee in lobk
in front of coworkers and media was rmattreme and outrageous). Moreover, ev
assuming the Department was acting primaadiyt of a retaliatory or discriminatory
motive, the acts of investigating employes®sl recommending them for prosecution
further investigation do not rise to the levetohduct sufficiently owageous to constitute
a claim for IIED. See Matson v. Safewdnc., 2013 WL 6628257, *4 (D. Ariz. 2013)
(“[E]Jven a defendant’s ‘unjustdble’ conduct does not necesbarise to the level of
‘atrocious’ and ‘beyond all possible boundk decency’ that would cause an avera
member of the community to believe it was ‘outrageousség also Mintz905 P.2d at
563 (finding that failing topromote plaintiff, even ifmotivated by retaliation or
discrimination, was not sufficiently extrenand outrageous to state a claim).
Accordingly,I T ISORDERED that
1. The partial motion talismiss (Doc. 11) iISRANTED;
2. All of Amy’s state-law claims againdRoberts (Counts 2, 3, 7, and 9) a
DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE;
3. Amy’s claims against the City of Phogror abuse of process and IIED (Coun
2 and 3) ar®ISMISSED WITHOUT PREJUDICE;
4. The subset of Darren’s state-law claiagainst Roberts that weren’t identifie

in Darren’s August 14, 2017 notice tolserts, and which Darren attempted

articulate for the first time in his Ap 2, 2018 notice to Roberts, ar¢

DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE; and
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5. Darren’s claims against th@ity of Phoenix and Roloes for abuse of process
and IIED (Counts 2 and 3) are, to the extsot already dismissed with prejudic
in the preceding paragrafgblSMISSED WITHOUT PREJUDICE.

Dated this 21st day of December, 2018.

~ "Dominic W. Lanza
United States District Judge
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